COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION ONE
MAR 2 4 2015

NO. 72342-1-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN LODIS and DEBORAH LODIS,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

CORBIS HOLDINGS, INC.,

Defendant/Respondent,

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Bruce E. Heller)

Case No. 08-2-20301-8

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 Mark W. Rose, WSBA # 41916 The Sheridan Law Firm, P.S. Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949 jack@sheridanlawfirm.com mark@sheridanlawfirm.com Attorneys for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs/Appellants Steven and Deborah Lodis seek a new trial. Steven Lodis' termination by his former employer (Corbis) and its CEO (Gary Shenk) has always been a story that is primarily about retaliation. Yet, Mr. Lodis has not yet had a full and fair opportunity to tell that story. His retaliation claim was dismissed based on an erroneous ruling that Mr. Lodis, the Senior VP of H.R., was unprotected from retaliation due to not having "stepped outside" his ordinary job duties to engage in opposition to discrimination. Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 292 P.3d 779 (2013).

Before such ruling could be overturned and the retaliation claim remanded for trial, there was a trial on Mr. Lodis' ancillary claim for age discrimination and two trials on counterclaims brought by Corbis. In the first trial, the jury found Mr. Lodis did not establish that Corbis or Mr. Shenk engaged in age discrimination with respect to Mr. Lodis.

In regards to Corbis' counterclaims, the first jury found that Mr. Lodis was not unjustly enriched and that Lodis had not engaged in fraud. However, the first verdict did favor Corbis on its counterclaim for breach of fiduciary duty, though no damages were awarded. As a result, a second trial was granted only on the breach of

fiduciary duty counterclaim. The second jury found that Mr. Lodis did not breach his fiduciary duty by receiving and retaining a March 2006 bonus —but did breach his fiduciary duty by failing to report vacation time he used and receiving a payout for allegedly unused vacation time after he was terminated. The second jury awarded damages to Corbis in the full amount of the vacation payout given to Mr. Lodis, which Mr. Lodis paid.

The Court of Appeals subsequently reversed the dismissal of Mr. Lodis' claim for retaliation. In remanding for the parties' third trial, the Court wrote, "Whether Lodis opposed Shenk's purported discrimination is a determination we leave for the trier of fact." <u>Lodis</u>, 172 Wn. App. at 851.

In advance of the third trial (*i.e.*, the first trial to include a claim for retaliation for opposing "purported discrimination"), the trial court granted two expansive motions in limine filed by Corbis, which related to the two jury verdicts from the previous trials. The motions claimed that the law of the case and collateral estoppel doctrines precluded Mr. Lodis from (1) presenting "evidence of age discrimination" and (2) "re-litigating breach of fiduciary duty." The court granted both of Corbis' motions.

Thus, although Lodis had the burden to prove he opposed

conduct "reasonably believed" to be age discrimination, he was only allowed to present evidence of alleged ageist behavior by CEO Gary Shenk that Mr. Lodis actually admonished Shenk about. This limited Mr. Lodis to five alleged discriminatory events or statements by Shenk.

Ultimately, the court in the retaliation trial also admitted portions of the two earlier jury verdicts, which showed: (1) Mr. Lodis previously brought an unsuccessful claim for age discrimination; and (2) as Corbis' counsel put it, Mr. Lodis was found "guilty" of breaching his fiduciary duty and made to pay the company back for the amount of the vacation payout given to him after termination.

The trial court's decision on issue preclusion, its failure to dismiss an unsupported and prejudicial "after-acquired evidence" defense, its admission of the two prior jury verdicts, among other evidentiary rulings, left "such a feeling of prejudice ... in the minds of the jury as to prevent [the] litigant from having a fair trial."

This Court, reviewing the rulings on issue preclusion de novo, should reverse the rulings and grant Mr. Lodis a new trial so that he may finally be heard (1) by a jury that is able to hear all relevant evidence on a key element of his retaliation claim -- whether he

¹ Collins v. Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5, 155 Wn. App. 48, 81, 231 P.3d 1211 (2010).

opposed conduct by Shenk that Lodis "reasonably believed" was age discrimination; and (2) by a jury that is not immediately prejudiced against Mr. Lodis due to the admission of an irrelevant and overly prejudicial "breach of fiduciary duty" verdict, presented to the jury under the guise of an unsupported after-acquired evidence defense that should have been dismissed.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in granting Defendant's motion in limine to preclude evidence of alleged age discrimination. CP 3322.
- 2. The trial court erred in admitting testimony regarding the first jury verdict and Ex. 484, the actual jury verdict against Mr. Lodis in the first trial, related to his claim of intentional age discrimination. RP (May 22, 2014) at 37.
- 3. The trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider an "after-acquired evidence" affirmative defense and evidence related to Mr. Lodis failure to record vacation. RP (May 13, 2014), at 10-11; RP (May 22, 2014) at 4.
- 4. The trial court erred in granting Defendant's motion in limine to preclude re-litigation of Steven Lodis' breach of fiduciary duty, and in admitting testimony regarding the second jury verdict and Ex. 485, which is the actual second jury's verdict on Corbis' breach of fiduciary duty counter-claim. CP 3322; RP (May 14, 2014) at 4-5; RP (May 22, 2014) at 36.

5. The trial erred in denying Mr. Lodis' motion for a new trial. CP 2414-15.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Is the issue of whether Mr. Lodis was discriminated against based on his age identical in all respects to any matter directly at issue as a question of ultimate fact in the trial of Mr. Lodis' claim for retaliation? No.
- 2. Is the issue of whether Mr. Lodis breached his fiduciary duty identical in all respect to any matter directly at issue as a question of ultimate fact in the trial of Mr. Lodis' claim for retaliation? No.
- 3. Does the "law of the case doctrine" preclude relitigation of a prior jury's factual findings? No; or does the doctrine instead preclude relitigation of a court's earlier holdings on the application of legal principles in the case? Yes.
- 4. Should an after-acquired evidence defense be dismissed where it is supported only by the opposing party's opinion, which is contradicted both by company practice and by testimony of the company's current VP of HR? Yes.
- 5. Whether the inclusion of the two prior verdicts against Mr. Lodis and in favor of Corbis engendered such a feeling of prejudice in the minds of the jury as to prevent Mr. Lodis from having a fair trial related to his retaliation claim? Yes.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. Steven Lodis was promoted to Senior VP; opposed what he reasonably believed was age discrimination; and was subjected to a series of actions that quickly led to his termination.
 - 1. Overview of Lodis' Employment With Corbis

Lodis began working for Corbis in July 2005 as the Vice President of Worldwide Human Resources ("H.R."). CP 2447, 2513-14; RP (May 21, 2014) at 14. He had previously held positions at the level of H.R. Director or V.P. of H.R. at major corporations since 1992, and had over 34 years experience working in the field of human resources. CP 2513-14.

At Corbis, "[b]y all accounts, the HR function by the time Steve Lodis took the position of V.P was in somewhat of a state of disarray." CP 1069. In the summer of 2007, C.E.O. Gary Shenk conducted a mid-year performance evaluation of Lodis. Shenk's review was glowing, calling Lodis a "trusted advisor," that Lodis "took a department that was in shambles, and built up a good team," and that Lodis was "a beacon of 'calm' and 'normalcy' – ending the madness and hyperactivity of many Corbis activities." Ex. 47.

- 2. In December 2007, after observing a culmination of events involving Shenk's treatment of older employees and Lodis repeatedly admonishing Shenk, Lodis reported concerns about Shenk to SVP and General Counsel, Jim Mitchell.
 - a. The direct reports under Shenk became younger as he replaced older workers with younger ones.

Before Gary Shenk's tenure as Corbis C.E.O., the average age of the direct reports for the CEO was 52. At the time that Shenk terminated Lodis, the average age of Shenk's direct reports was 40. CP 2936, 2938.

b. CEO Shenk and corporate counsel Jim Mitchell made numerous ageist comments.

After becoming CEO, Shenk repeatedly expressed his preference for younger workers over older workers. In Executive Team meetings, at least 10 to 15 times Shenk talked about his "young" E-Team. CP 2516, 2505, 1572, 3074. At Global Operating Team meetings Shenk made reference again to the age of the executive team. CP 2516-17. He made reference to age at the allemployee meetings at either the end of 2007 or early 2008. *Id.* Shenk stated how "excited and pumped up [he was] about the young team, the energy. Look around the table. Look at Stephen Gillett, barely 30. Look at Ivan Purdie. Look at the people here that we have. It's a young, exciting new time and new team." *Id.*

When Shenk made reference to his former executive coach, Glo Harris, Shenk referenced her age and said she was "grandmotherly" as an explanation for why he was not going to use her anymore. CP 2520; RP (May 29, 2014) at 9. During 2007, Shenk repeatedly referred to Tim Sprake, the Director of Compensation and Benefits who was a Lodis direct report, as "the old man on your staff" or words to that effect; Sprake was over 40 years old. CP 2519; RP (May 21, 2014) at 23. Shenk referred to Vice President Rick Wysocki, who is over-40, as "an old-timer." CP 2753. Shenk made the statement to VP Ross Sutherland, who told Lodis, that "We are not running a retirement home," or words to that effect, when speaking about VP Wysocki. CP 2519. Wysocki was terminated in July 2007. *Id*.

Shenk also told VP Sutherland that Patrick Donahue, the "eldest statesman of photography at Corbis," was "old school" and "out of touch." CP 1731-34; 2505-06; 3076; 3154. On three occasions, Shenk told Sutherland to terminate Donahue. CP 2505-06, CP 1731; 3076-77. Sutherland refused to do it. CP 1732. V.P. Sutherland was then terminated. CP 1732.³ Shenk described the person who would be replacing Sutherland as "a young, good looking

³ CP 3080.

movie star type." CP 2506.

c. Lodis opposed ageist conduct by admonishing Shenk and speaking to corporate counsel Jim Mitchell about Shenk in December 2007.

Mr. Lodis testified that there were at least five occasions where he admonished Gary Shenk for making purportedly ageist comments about his "young team" and about certain older workers (*i.e.*, Beate Chellette, Tim Sprake, and Mark Sherman); none of whom were Steven Lodis. *See* CP 2466-79, 2517-21. Mr. Shenk, for his part, denied that Lodis ever admonished him about any alleged ageist comments or conduct.⁴

On November 7, 2007, Shenk announced Lodis' promotion to "SVP, Human Resources." Ex. 53. At that time, Shenk "believed Lodis was the man for the job." RP (May 15. 2014) at 133. Shenk testified that when he signed a letter to Lodis on December 20, 2007, congratulating him on his promotion, Shenk "still believed [Lodis] was the man for the job." RP (May 15, 2014) at 101, 134.

Mr. Lodis testified that sometime in December 2007, Lodis went to Senior V.P. and General Counsel Jim Mitchell to report his concerns about Shenk's comments and his terminations of Mark Sherman, Wil Merritt, David Bradley, and Sue McDonald, and Mark

⁴ See RP (May 15, 2014) at 167; RP (May 19, 2014) at 13-17.

Sherman. RP (May 21, 2014) at 26-27; CP 2521. Mitchell denied this conversation occurred.⁵ Also in December 2007 or January 2008, Mr. Lodis reminded Shenk that age should not be a factor in the decision to terminate older V.P. Mark Sherman. *See* CP 2520.

d. In January, February, and March 2008, Lodis is subjected to a quick series of adverse actions, concluding with his termination.

On December 26, 2007, Shenk contacted consultant Dawn McNab to do a "360" evaluation of his executive team, but in a violation of convention, he wanted the evaluation done to create data for a performance review. RP (May 15, 2014) at 93-95; RP (February 25, 2010) at 46. McNab opposed this idea because a 360, where information is provided anonymously, is supposed to provide a safe environment for constructive input. CP 2764; RP (February 25, 2010) at 19-20; RP (May 15, 2014) at 137-38, 190. Waldron and Company, for whom McNab worked as a consultant, later disavowed her work on this 360. Ex. 118.

Shenk focused on Lodis and Sherman. Ex. 88. In another break from procedure, Shenk selected which members of his executive team would be interviewed for the 360 evaluation of Mr. Lodis. Ex. 71; CP 2522. Shenk picked Kirsten Lawlor and Jim

⁵ See RP (May 20, 2014) at 53.

Mitchell, both of whom were Lodis detractors. Shenk ignored the positive evaluations and asked McNab to make a list of Lodis' "weaknesses," which she did, and again which was not a part of a normal practice. CP 2767-71.

Again, in a departure of usual procedures, Shenk asked for and obtained Ms. McNab's notes, which are not usually shared with management, of her interviews with Kirsten Lawlor and others. CP 3625-31. Shenk only asked McNab for the interview notes regarding one person: Steven Lodis. RP (February 25, 2010) at 46-47.

This was in January 2008 timeframe -- the month after Shenk signed the letter congratulating Lodis on his promotion to Senior Vice President. *Id.* at 48. Although Shenk formulated a theory based on the notes that some employees thought Lodis was hard to reach, Shenk admitted he never had difficulties reaching Lodis. CP 2638-40. Allegedly based on the 360 evaluation results, Shenk put Lodis on a Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP"). CP 2522-24, CP 2767. When Shenk told McNab that he wanted to use the material generated in the 360 evaluation to put Mr. Lodis on a PIP, she again told Shenk that "360's were normally not used in that way." RP (February 25, 2010) at 49.

⁶ Ex. 71; RP (May 15, 2014) at 83-84; CP 2522; Ex. 367.

Shenk gave Mr. Lodis his PIP on March 6, 2008. CP 2522. The PIP contained numerous inaccurate statements and findings with which Lodis disagreed. CP 2524-60. Mr. Lodis systematically rebuts all of the allegations in the PIP. *Id.* As part of the PIP, Shenk directed Lodis to meet with his subordinates regarding his PIP. RP (May 15, 2014) at 190-91; CP 2537. Shenk never told Lodis the procedures for the meetings, so Lodis spent a few minutes with each peer and reported what happened. CP 2523-24. On March 26, 2008, Shenk terminated Lodis for-cause, allegedly for lying about the content of the meetings with Lodis' direct reports. CP 2421, 2523-24, 2554-60.

e. After Lodis is terminated, Corbis calculates his unrecorded vacation and gives him a payout.

On March 26, 2008, Corbis terminated Lodis, allegedly for lying about the content of the meetings with Lodis' direct reports. CP 2421, 2523-24. Subsequently, on or before April 2, 2008, Corbis reviewed Mr. Lodis' vacation recordation, and his Outlook "calendar" and determined that Lodis had failed to report vacation he used, but had 34 days, or 272 hours, visible on his calendar. *See* Ex. 108.

"Another executive of the company, Barry Allen, failed to document 15 days of vacation and has not been terminated or even reprimanded." Order, CP 27. The executive assistant to Mr. Allen,

who had knowledge of his work calendar, including vacation entries, as well as his vacation schedule, testified that she reported his vacation usage into the vacation reporting system. CP 3264-65, 3306-14.

Although Corbis had discovered Lodis had not documented any of his vacation usage, the company paid him a gross vacation time payout of \$41,555 on April 11, 2008. *See* Ex. 108; CP 3270.

B. Lodis filed suit for retaliation, but his claim was not tried until after verdicts were reached on an ancillary age discrimination claim and Corbis' counterclaim for breach of fiduciary duty.

Mr. Lodis filed a claim for retaliation under RCW 49.60.210.

Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 844. His lawsuit also included a claim for age-based discrimination directed at Mr. Lodis. *Id.* Judge Hayden granted Corbis' motion for summary judgment on Lodis' RCW 49.60.210 retaliation claim, "conclud[ing] that Lodis was not engaged in statutorily protected activity under RCW 49.60.210, because he was simply performing his job duties by warning Shenk about the potential age discrimination. At trial, Judge Bruce Heller denied, on the same basis as Judge Hayden, Lodis's requests to ... reinstate his retaliation claim." *Id.* The Court of Appeals disagreed, restating the broad scope of the WLAD's protections, while declining to strip Corbis' Senior Vice President of Human Resources, and other

workers whose job duties include "ensuring ... compliance with federal and state employment laws," of the protections afforded by RCW 49.60.210. *Id.* at 850-52.

Before such decision was reached, two trials occurred in which the juries rendered verdicts on Mr. Lodis' claim of age discrimination, as well as Corbis' counterclaims. *Id.* at 842, 845.

In the first trial, the jury found that Corbis and Mr. Shenk did not engage in age discrimination with respect to Mr. Lodis. Ex. 484. In regards to Corbis' counterclaims, the first jury found that Mr. Lodis was not unjustly enriched and that Lodis had not engaged in fraud. *Id.* However, the first verdict did favor Corbis on its counterclaim for breach of fiduciary duty, though no damages were awarded. *Id.* As a result, a second trial was granted only on the breach of fiduciary duty counterclaim. Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 845. The second jury found that Mr. Lodis did not breach his fiduciary duty by receiving and retaining a March 2006 bonus –but did breach his fiduciary duty by failing to report vacation time he used and receiving a payout for allegedly unused vacation time after he was terminated. *Id.*, at 845-46. The second jury awarded damages to Corbis in the full amount of the vacation payout: \$42,389. *Id.*

C. On remand, the court in the trial of the retaliation claim granted a motion in limine precluding Lodis from

"retrying the age issues" beyond evidence of five occurrences in which Lodis "admonished" Shenk for alleged ageist behavior. Initially, the court excluded the prior verdict on age discrimination, viewing it as irrelevant and prejudicial.

On April 15, 2014, Corbis filed a motion to preclude evidence of age discrimination. CP 257. The motion was primarily based on the "the law of the case doctrine and the doctrine of collateral estoppel." CP 258. It asked that "should any evidence of age discrimination be admitted" in the trial of the retaliation claim, then "the prior jury verdict rejecting Plaintiffs' [age] discrimination claim must be admitted also." CP 258.

Mr. Lodis opposed the motion. He argued that the third would be instructed that Lodis had the burden of proving that he "oppos[ed] what he **reasonably believed** to be discrimination on the basis of age," CP 2003 (Jury Instruction No. 9) (emphasis added), CP 361; and that "evidence of Shenk and Mitchell's ageist comments and conduct are necessary to provide that Lodis' opposition was reasonable." CP 361, *citing* Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 852.

On May 5, 2014, the Court issued a letter decision, granting Corbis' motions in limine to preclude evidence of age discrimination.

CP 3322. In its letter and at the hearing on the motion, the Court stated it did not "believe that there is a logical connection between

ageist comments and retaliation." RP (May 9, 2014) at 16.

Consequently, it ruled that "alleged ageist statements by Shenk that

Lodis did not address with Shenk are inadmissible." CP 3322.

"[Q]uestions regarding alleged ageist comments or events outside of the ... five occurrences where Mr. Lodis says he admonished Mr.

Shank, ... questions outside of those five occurrences [were] ... off limits." RP (May 9, 2014) at 15-16.

Initially, the court also ruled that the prior verdict on age discrimination was inadmissible. RP (May 14, 2014) at 3. The Court said:

[T]he fact that a prior jury found that Mr. Shenk had not discriminated against Mr. Lodis [based on age] really doesn't inform the question of whether or not Mr. Lodis had reason to believe that [Shenk] was engaging in improper conduct with respect to other employees.

Id., at 3-4.

Corbis separately filed a motion in limine to exclude evidence of termination and/or lay-off decisions of employees other than Mr.

Lodis and the ages of such employees, arguing the "question of whether [Corbis] engaged in unlawful age discrimination has already been considered and decided in a prior trial...." CP 589-90. Mr. Lodis opposed the motion, arguing that evidence Shenk was terminating older direct reports in favor of younger direct reports was relevant to

proving that Lodis opposed what he "reasonably believed" was age discrimination. CP 3331.

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