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

engaged in protected activity to prove his retaliation claim, the law requires

Lodis to show that he had an "objectively reasonable belief that the

conduct he allegedly opposed was unlawful—not that the conduct actually

was unlawful. See Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 852. Such a requirement,

however, does not render alleged ageist comments about which Lodis did

not see fit to admonish Shenk in any way relevant to Lodis' claim that he

had a reasonable belief that the conduct he allegedly opposed was unlawful,

nor does it have a tendency to make it more probable that Lodis was
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retaliated against for having engaged in such opposition activity. See ER

401; 402. If anything, that Lodis concludedthe additional information was

notworth mentioning to Shenk shows it lacks probative value. Id.

Lodis was required to prove he reasonably believed the activity

about which he allegedly complained was unlawful.23 Judge Heller's ruling

specifically relies upon this distinction in allowing for the admissibility of

only those allegations of age discrimination that formed the basis of Lodis'

claimed protected activity—that is, alleged acts forming the basis of "the

conduct [Lodis] complained of." See Renz, 114 Wn., App., at 619; (CP

3322)

To accept Lodis' assertion that he should essentially be given carte

blanche to introduce unlimited allegations of age discrimination -

regardless of their connection with the protected activity at issue with his

retaliation claim- would be unfairly prejudicial to Corbis. See ER 403. As

Corbis argued in its motion in limine, any probative value that such

evidence could possibly have would be far outweighed by the risk of jury

confusion as to whether this was truly an age discrimination or retaliation

23 (CP 2003 (Jury Instruction No. 9)); Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, P.S., 114
Wn. App. 611, 619, 60 P.3d 106(2002) ("It is not necessary that the conduct complained
of actually be unlawful. [A]n employee who opposes employment practices reasonably
believed to be discriminatory is protected by the 'opposition clause' [underRCW 49.60]
whether or not the practice is actually discriminatory.") (emphasis added) (internal
quotations and citation omitted).
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case, as well as the risk of unfair prejudice, given that Lodis may have

presented the evidence to create the unfair impression that Shenk was an

ageist. (CP 257-267) At a minimum, consideration (and rebuttal) of such

age discrimination evidence would have presented undue cost, delay, and

inefficiency. Id.

The trial court properly and reasonably weighed these factors and

limited Lodis to the introduction of evidence relevant to his claim for

retaliation. ER 401; 402. It is telling that when attempting to assign error

to this ruling, Lodis focuses on collateral estoppel and law of the case —

reasoning not actually adopted by the trial court. Lodis offers no coherent

argument as to why the trial court's rulings were so contrary to the

principles of ER 401, 402, and 402-the reasoning the trial court did

articulate-so as to constitute an abuse of discretion. Indeed, there was no

abuse of discretion and judgment should be affirmed.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In

Admitting The Prior Jury Verdict On Lodis' Failed Age
Discrimination Claim Out Of Considerations Of

Prejudice.

Judge Heller initially ruled that the age discrimination verdict was

inadmissible. (5/14 RP 3-4) Corbis did not contest or otherwise object to

the trial court's ruling, conceding that the verdict was irrelevant to the issue

of whether Corbis retaliated against Lodis for having allegedly admonished
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Shenk on five occasions for making age-based comments. (5/14 RP 7-8)

At the time of the Court's initial ruling, however, Corbis simultaneously

expressed its "serious concern" that Lodis would nonetheless seek to

introduce evidence of alleged age discrimination that did not form the basis

of any of the five admonishments in an attempt to raise the inference that

Shenk is an "ageist." (5/14 RP 8) Unfortunately, Corbis' concerns became

a reality when, throughout the proceedings, Lodis repeatedly introduced

testimony of alleged age discrimination about which he did not allegedly

admonish Shenk, in direct violation ofthe trial court's prior ruling, thereby

"opening the door" to admission ofthe jury verdict.24 (CP 3322; Appendix

1).

As a direct result of Lodis' insistence on introducing inadmissible

evidence that unfairly left the jury with the inference that Shenkwas biased

against older workers, Judge Heller reversed his prior ruling mid-trial and

allowed Corbis to introduce the age discrimination verdict in order to

"protect" Corbis against any unfair conclusion that Shenk had engaged in

age discrimination. (5/21 RP 126-127; 134-135) Specifically recognizing

Under the "open door" rule, if one party raises a material issue, the opposing
party is generally permitted to "explain, clarify, or contradict the evidence." State v.
Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 939, 198 P.3d 529(2008) (citing State v. Price, 126 Wn. App.
617, 109 P.3d 27 (2005)); see also 5 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence
Law and Practice § 103.14-. 15 (5th ed. 2007) (under the "open door" rule, a party may
waive itsobjection to inadmissible evidence by raising the subject matter at trial).
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that Lodis had introduced "quite a bit of evidence regarding age within the

context of the retaliation claim," (5/21 RP 126) Judge Heller reasoned that

admission of the prior jury verdict was necessary because Corbis was

entitled "to be protected . . . from . . . 'shortcuts' . . . [inferring] that Shenk

engaged in age discrimination." (5/21 RP 127)

Evidentiary decisions made under the "open door" rule are

reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Wilson, 20 Wn. App. 592, 594,

581 P.2d 592 (1978). Here, Judge Heller's ruling was cautiously and

carefullymade after much deliberation and cannot be viewed as "manifestly

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons." Olver, 161 Wn.2d

at 663. Indeed, Judge Heller cautioned Lodis repeatedly throughout the

proceedings that Lodis was "taking a bit of a risk" in continuing in his

efforts to introduce evidence of alleged age discrimination but upheld his

prior ruling that the age discrimination verdict was inadmissible. {See, e.g.,

5/15 RP 105-106; 5/19 RP 203) Ultimately, Judge Heller was left with little

choice but to reverse his prior ruling and admit the jury verdict after Lodis

had repeatedly "opened the door," in an effort to negate the inference Lodis

had created that Shenk was an "ageist."25 (5/21 RP 126-127; 134-135) There

was no abuse of discretion and judgment should be affirmed.

25 See, e.g., ER 403; 5 Tegland, supra, at 76 ("[Admissibility of evidence
through the 'open door' often turns on Rule 403 and a balancing of the proponent's need
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3. Lodis Cannot Show That He Was Prejudiced By The
Trial Court's Rulings Regarding Allegations Of Age
Discrimination And The Age Discrimination Verdict.

Even if Lodis could establish that Judge Hellerabused his discretion

with regard to his evidentiary rulings of age discrimination and the prior

verdict on Lodis' age discrimination claim, Lodis cannot show prejudice.26

There was overwhelming evidence presented in eight days oftestimony that

Corbis terminated Lodis for good cause, not because he engaged in any

alleged protected activity.

Lodis also failed to introduce any documentation or corroborating

testimony reflecting that he had, in fact, ever admonished Shenk at any

time. Without such protected activity, there could be no retaliation,

regardless of what other evidence of age discrimination the jury heard.

Indeed, both Shenk and Mitchell denied that Lodis had ever admonished

Shenk. Further, Lodis admitted that he did not believe Shenk's alleged

age-based comments were offensive, let alone unlawful, as he is required to

show. (5/22 RP 153-158). It was this failure to establish the basic elements

to rebut theopponent's evidence against the risk of further prejudice thatmay result from
the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence to rebut the opponent's evidence.");
see also United States v. Sine, 493 F.3d 1021, 1037 (9th Cir. 2007) ( "open door" rule
allows a party "to introduce evidence on the same issue to rebut any false impression
created by the other party").

26 See, e.g., State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1225 (2001) ("Improper
admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minorsignificance
in reference to the evidence as a whole.").

27 (5/15 RP 95, 167; 5/19 RP 172; 5/20 RP 53-54; 5/29 RP 22-24)
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of a retaliation claim or rebut the evidence showing he was fired for good

cause, and not Judge Heller's decision to preclude irrelevant, prejudicial

evidence, which resulted in the jury's verdict in Corbis' favor. This is

especially true given how much of the "age discrimination evidence," which

Judge Heller had ruled to be inadmissible, was nevertheless introduced by

Lodis. See Appendix 1.

Similarly, admission of the prior verdict from the first trial did not

unfairly prejudice Lodis. Judge Heller gave the jury a clear limiting

instruction with regard to the age discrimination verdict.28 (5/22 RP 131);

see also State v. Roberts, 185 Wn. App. 94, 97 339 P.3d 995 (2014) (in

assessing considerations of prejudice, appellate courts "presume that juries

follow all instructions given"). Moreover, Lodis cannot realistically claim

prejudice when Lodis himself opened the door to the jury verdict being

admitted.29

28 Lodis also seems to argue that he was prejudiced by Corbis' counsel's
statements during the trial. Judge Heller specifically instructed the jury that the
statements of counsel were not evidence. (5/15 RP 10) He further directed that any
closing argument regarding the prior verdict must be limited to reflect the jury's finding
that there was no discrimination against Lodis—not that there was a verdict regarding age
discrimination against any employee other than Lodis. (5/29 RP 99)

Lodis also chose to testify about the Court of Appeals' decision in Lodis by
claiming "we won," (5/22 RP 62), thereby focusing additional attention on the jury
verdict. Judge Heller initially prevented Corbis' counsel from inquiring further but
ultimately allowed questioning after Lodis continued to testify about the appellate
decision. (5/22 RP 62-66) Lodis' own testimony about having "won" at the appellate
level invited the jury to consider the appellate decision with the prior verdict and
conclude that Lodis was not credible. (5/22 RP 62)
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Evidentiary "error without prejudice is not grounds for reversal and

will not be considered prejudicial unless it affects, or presumptively affects,

the outcome of the trial." Northington v. Sivo, 102 Wn. App. 545, 552

n.10, 8 P.3d 1067 (2000); Neal, 144 Wn.2d at 611 ("Evidentiary error is

grounds for reversal only if it results in prejudice.") Here, the

overwhelming weight of the evidence supports the jury's verdict. Any

"prejudice" from the trial court's mid-trial evidentiary ruling allowing in the

jury verdict was negligible at most. This Court should affirm the judgment

below.

C. The Trial Court's Rulings Regarding Lodis' Established
Breach of Fiduciary Duty were Appropriate, Reasonable and
Not an Abuse of Discretion.

The trial court made two separate rulings with regards to Lodis'

breach of fiduciary duty to Corbis, as found by the jury in the second trial.

First, in granting Corbis' motion in limine, the trial court ruled that the law

of the case doctrine applied to bar Lodis from re-litigating the issue of

whether he breached his fiduciary duty to Corbis for failing to record any

vacation time. (CP 3322) A de novo standard of review applies to the trial

court's application of law. Second, the trial court ruled that the jury

verdict in the second trial finding that Lodis breached his fiduciary duty to

30 Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369
(2003).
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Corbis by failing to record vacation time was relevant and admissible under

the rules of evidence. (5/14 RP 4; 5/15 6-7) An abuse of discretion

standard of review applies to the trial court's evidentiary ruling admitting

the prior jury verdict.31

1. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Ruling That The Law
Of The Case Doctrine Precluded Lodis From Re-

Litigating The Breach Of Fiduciary Duty Claim.

Washington courts have long respected the law of the case doctrine,

whereby an appellate court ruling "must be followed in all subsequent

stages of the same litigation." State v. Schwab, 163 Wn.2d 664, 672, 185

P.3d 1151 (2008). The Washington Supreme Court has explained that the

doctrine "seeks to promote finality and efficiency in the judicial process."

Id. To that end, the law of the case doctrine applies broadly to the trial

court, the parties and the appellate court. See Humphrey Industries, Ltd v.

Clay Street Associates, LLC, 176 Wn.2d 662, 669, 295 P.3d 141 (2013).

Here, the trial court properly ruled that the law of the case is that

Lodis breached his fiduciary duty to Corbis by failing to record his vacation

time and is binding on both the trial court and the parties.32 The jury verdict

finding that Lodis breached his fiduciary duty to Corbis was clearly and

31 See e.g., State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 196, 340 P.3d 213 (2014)
(evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion).

(CP 3322 ("[T]he jury's verdict that Lodis breached his fiduciary duty to
Corbis is the law of the case.")).
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unambiguously upheld by this Court.33 Thus, the trial court properly ruled

that Lodis was precluded from re-litigating the issue by denying that he

breached his fiduciary duty by failing to record vacation time.34

Lodis again appears to misunderstand the trial court's reasoning

when assigning error to this ruling, seemingly arguing that the court erred

by applying the doctrine of collateral estoppel. (App. Briefat 42-46) But

the trial court did not base its ruling on collateral estoppel, instead clarifying

that "the jury's verdict against Lodis regarding breach of fiduciary duty is

the law of the case." (CP 3322)

Moreover, any argument by Lodis that the law of the case doctrine

applies "only to principles of law [and] not facts" (App. Brief, at 28) is

wrong. To the contrary, courts routinely apply the law of the case doctrine

to both conclusions of law and findings of fact. See, e.g., Humphrey

Industries v. Clay Street Associates, 176 Wn. 2d 662, 671, 295 P.3d 231

(2013) (Washington State Supreme Court's assessment of certain findings

See Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 861 ("It was for the jury to find, based on the
evidence, that Lodis profited at the company's expense by not recording any vacation
time, thereby breaching his fiduciary duties of undivided loyalty and care. We find no
error.").

34 Notably, there was good cause for Corbis to beconcerned about Lodis' lack of
respect for the jury's prior verdict. Even with the trial court's ruling, Lodis continued to
argue throughout the proceedings that Lodis could not be deemed to have breached his
fiduciary duty to Corbis because he did not receive payment for the vacation time until
after his termination. (5/21 RP 76 (asserting that Lodis' "failure to record is not to the
breach; it's getting the check and cashing it that causes the breach")) (Ex. 485)
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of fact became the law of the case).35 Thus, the trial court did not err in

ruling that the law ofthe case doctrine applies to the fact, determined by the

jury and affirmed by this Court, that Lodis breached his fiduciary duty by

failing to record vacation.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In
Admitting The Prior Verdict On Corbis' Breach Of
Fiduciary Duty Claim.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in subsequently

ruling that the second jury's verdict on Corbis' breach of fiduciary duty

claim was relevant and admissible under the rules of evidence. (5/14 5;

5/15 6-7) Indeed, that verdict finding that Lodis breached his fiduciary

duty to Corbis by failing to record any vacation time is directly relevant to

Corbis' after-acquired evidence defense—specifically, whether Lodis'

actions were "of such severity that [Lodis] in fact would have been

terminated on those grounds alone if [Corbis] had known of it at the time of

See also Transamerica Leasing v. Institute of London Underwriters, 430
F.3d 1326, 1331 (11th Cir. 2005) ("Under the 'law of the case' doctrine, the findings of
fact and conclusions of lawby an appellate court are generally binding in all subsequent
proceedings in the same case in the trial court or on a later appeal"); StateIndustries,
Inc. v. Mor-Flo Industries, 948 F.2d 1573, 1576 (Fed. Cir. 1991) ("findings of fact
reviewed in and relied upon in an appellate court's decision become the law of the case
and, absent certain exceptional circumstances, may not be disturbed by a trial court on
remand").

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